ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-26-08446

Appellate Case No. 2014-000756

William H. Bailey, Jr. .... *Appellant,*

v.

Marilyn Hatley, individually and as Mayor  
of the City of North Myrtle Beach,  
Michael G. Mahaney, Christopher Noury,  
and the City of North Myrtle Beach ..... *Respondents.*

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

**WRIGHT, WORLEY, POPE,  
EKSTER & MOSS, PLLC**  
Kenneth R. Moss, SC Bar # 15520  
628A Sea Mountain Highway  
North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582  
Tel: (843) 281-9901

**I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- A. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING ALL CAUSES OF ACTION UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL NAMED DEFENDANTS?
- B. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL NAMED DEFENDANTS UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT WERE ONE AND THE SAME AS CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST THE PUBLIC BODY THAT ALLEGEDLY VIOLATED THE ACT?
- C. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING ALL CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL NAMED DEFENDANTS WHEN THE COURT HEARD ARGUMENT ON ONLY THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT AND DID NOT *SUA SPONTE* ADDRESS CAUSES OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE CITY'S ORDINANCES?

**II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Plaintiff commenced an action in the Court of Common Pleas for Horry County on December 23, 2013 against the City of North Myrtle Beach, the Mayor of the City, the City Manager, and the City Attorney, alleging that the actions of the Defendants in the convening and conduct of scheduled Meetings of the City Council violated the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-10 *et seq.* (Supp. 2013, as amended), and the City's Code of Ordinances ("City Ord.").

The City of North Myrtle Beach (the "City"), a municipal corporation in Horry County, South Carolina, is a public body as defined by S.C. Code Ann.

§ 30-4-20(a) (Supp. 2013), and is managed under the council-manager form of government as described in S.C. Code Ann. §§ 5-13-10 *et seq.* (Supp. 2013). Defendant Marilyn Hatley (“Hatley”) is the Mayor of the City and presided over each of the Meetings of City Council of which the Complaint was made. (R. pp. 5–22.) Defendant Michael G. Mahaney (“Mahaney”) is the City Manager, and prepares agendas for the regularly scheduled and special Meetings of the City Council. Defendant Christopher Noury (“Noury”) is the City Attorney and parliamentarian to the City Council. The Plaintiff sought declaratory and injunctive relief, and Orders of the trial court restraining the Defendant City and the named individual Defendants from future violations of FOIA, and compelling compliance with the City’s Code of Ordinances.

The Defendants retained one law firm to represent all Defendants jointly, and generally denied the allegations of the Complaint. (R. pp. 5–22; R. pp. 23–28.) The Defendants thereafter filed a Motion pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC on January 15, 2014 as to all Defendants. (R. p. 58.) The Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss came before the trial court for oral argument on March 5, 2014, the Honorable Larry B. Hyman presiding. The Defendants sought to dismiss the named individual Defendants on the grounds that they were not proper parties to the action, and that declaratory or injunctive relief under FOIA would only be proper against the City as a public entity. By Order dated March 20, 2014 and filed March 28, 2014,

Judge Hyman granted the Defendants' Motion as to the individual named Defendants. (R. pp. 2–4.) This Appeal follows.

### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. The Trial Court Erred in Dismissing All Causes of Action Under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act Against the Individual Named Defendants.

The Defendants conceded that the Plaintiff has standing to bring an action under FOIA. (R. p. 39, lines 4–7.) However, the Defendants argued that declaratory or injunctive relief might be had solely against the entity that has authority to act, and that there was no civil remedy against the individuals named in the Complaint. (R. p. 39, lines 8–15; R. pp. 5–22.)

The Defendants argued that the case of *Cricket Cove Ventures v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 701 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2010)<sup>1</sup>, specifically said that individual actions cannot be brought for the relief sought under FOIA. (R. p. 40, lines 1–4.)

The Plaintiff argued that S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100 allowed actions for injunctive and declaratory relief to be brought by individuals. (R. p. 40, lines 17–25.)

The cited statute provides:

**SECTION 30-4-100.** Injunctive relief; costs and attorney's fees.

(a) Any citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for either or both a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief to enforce the provisions of this chapter in

---

<sup>1</sup> R. p. 38, line 16; R. p. 39, line 8; R. p. 40, line 1 [naming errors in Transcript].

appropriate cases as long as such application is made no later than one year following the date on which the alleged violation occurs or one year after a public vote in public session, whichever comes later. The court may order equitable relief as it considers appropriate, and a violation of this chapter must be considered to be an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists.

(b) If a person or entity seeking such relief prevails, he or it may be awarded reasonable attorney fees and other costs of litigation. If such person or entity prevails in part, the court may in its discretion award him or it reasonable attorney fees or an appropriate portion thereof.

The Plaintiff (whose counsel represented the appellant before the Court of Appeals in *Cricket Cove*) argued that the Court of Appeals in that case had held that Section 30-4-100 of FOIA contains a civil enforcement provision granting standing to a South Carolina citizen to seek injunctive relief against a violation of any FOIA provision. (R. p. 40, lines 17–25.) *Cricket Cove*, 390 S.C. at 327, 701 S.E.2d at 20. The Court of Appeals upheld the respondents' Rule 12(b)(6) motion in *Cricket Cove* because the actions complained of were not found to be public activity and in the formulation of public policy. *Cricket Cove*, 390 S.C. at 328, 701 S.E.2d at 21–22. The Court of Appeals did not find that individual actions cannot be brought for all relief sought under FOIA.

Further, the Plaintiff argued, there existed appellate cases where individual officers of a city or county were named individually as defendants in an action under FOIA. The Plaintiff cited to *Lambries v. Saluda Cnty. Council*, 398 S.C. 501, 728

S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 2012) (Pieper, J. dissenting). (R. p. 43, line 23.<sup>2</sup>) The full caption in *Lambries*, as the Plaintiff pointed out in a Memorandum submitted at oral argument, is in fact *Dennis N. Lambries, Appellant, v. Saluda County Council; T. Hardee Horne, Chairman; William “Billie” Pugh, Councilman; Steve Teer, Councilman; Jacob Schumpert, Councilman; and James Frank Daniel, Sr., Councilman, Respondents*.

Since the hearing in this present matter in the Court of Common Pleas, the South Carolina Supreme Court has reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals. *Lambries v. Saluda Cnty. Council*, Op. No. 27400 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 18, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 24 at 19). However, that reversal did not address the issue of whether the individual members of the county council were proper party defendants in the FOIA action. The Supreme Court held that where a public body was not required to publish an agenda, the Supreme Court declined to judicially impose a restriction on the amendment of an agenda for a regularly scheduled meeting where none was required under the operative statute.

In the present case, the Complaint (R. pp. 5–22) alleges that the City Ordinances, unlike FOIA, required the City Manager to place matters to be considered by Council at a regular meeting of the City Council on a written agenda, and that a vote of a majority of Council Members present is required to consider

---

<sup>2</sup> [Naming error in Transcript.] The Plaintiff drew the trial court’s attention to the appellate status of the *Lambries* case. (R. pp. 43–44.)

matters not on the agenda. (R. p. 7, ¶ 17(g): City Ord., ch. 2, art. II, div. 2, § 2-35.) The Complaint in the present case alleged that those provisions of the City Ordinances were not followed (R. pp. 8, ¶ 29; R. p. 10, ¶ 42; R. p. 11, ¶ 53; R. p. 20, ¶ 184, etc.), in addition to other procedural irregularities under the City Code of Ordinances. Those issues have not been addressed at the trial level by the court. The Supreme Court in its reversal of *Lambries* focused on the absence of a specific requirement in Saluda County concerning publication or amendment of council agendas, and held that the “spirit and purpose” of FOIA was not violated by the events of which the plaintiff in that lawsuit was complaining. Although the Supreme Court declined in *Lambries* to judicially impose a restriction on the amendment of an agenda for a regularly scheduled meeting where none was required under the operative statute, in the present case the City’s Ordinances give an unequivocal requirement for publication of an agenda and the means of amendment to an agenda once published.

The Plaintiff’s Memorandum provided to the trial court also identified other cases under FOIA where individuals were named in their individual as well as their representative capacities. Those additional cases were:

1. *Burton v. York County Sheriff’s Dep’t*, 358 S.C. 339, 594 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004) (*Injunction issued by trial court upheld on appeal*). Full caption:

Ray B. BURTON, III and East Coast Newspapers, Inc.,  
Respondents/Appellants

v.

YORK COUNTY SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT and Bruce  
Bryant, York County Sheriff, Appellants/Respondents.

2. Fowler v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 463, 472 S.E.2d 630 (1996)  
(*Injunction issued*). Full caption:

Sandra FOWLER, Nick Cuomo, Tom McFall, Patricia Quattlebaum, Damon Thomas, Lonnie Hamilton, Sr., Lucille Whipper, Floyd Breeland, Mckinley Washington, Robert Ford, Respondents,

v.

David M. BEASLEY, Governor, the Charleston County Legislative Delegation, the Charleston County School Board, and Richard L. Mock, Defendants.

Of Whom Richard L. Mock; House Members of the Charleston County Legislative Delegation and Senate Members of the Charleston County Legislative Delegation are Appellants, and David M. Beasley, Governor, is a Respondent.

3. Weston v. Carolina Research and Development Foundation, 303 S.C. 398, 401 S.E.2d 161 (1991). Full caption:

Chris WESTON and Multimedia, Inc., d/b/a The Greenville News–Piedmont Company, Respondents

v.

CAROLINA RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION, Christopher Vlahoplus, Arthur M. Williams, Jr., John L. M. Tobias, Richard E. Day, Gayle O. Averyt, William R. Bruce, Robert E. Roberson, Guy F. Lipscomb, Jr., and William Weston, Jr., Appellants. And John C. SHURR and The Associated Press, Respondents

v.

CAROLINA RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION, Christopher Vlahoplus, Arthur M. Williams, Jr., John L. M. Tobias, Richard E. Day, Gayle O. Averyt, William R. Bruce, Robert E. Roberson, Guy F. Lipscomb, Jr., and William Weston, Jr., Appellants.

The trial court relied upon *Cricket Cove*, 390 S.C. 312, 701 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2010), to find that “[o]nly the public body can perform such acts that are

subject to FOIA's equitable provisions. . . . [T]he proper party defendant is the public body and in this case the sole proper party defendant is the City of North Myrtle Beach." (R. p. 3.) This was error by the trial court. Individuals may indeed be proper party defendants in cases seeking injunctive relief, as *Lambries*, *Burton*, *Fowler*, and *Weston*, illustrate.

**B. The Trial Court Erred in Finding That Causes of Action Against the Individual Named Defendants under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act Were One and the Same as Causes of Action Against the Public Body That Allegedly Violated the Act.**

The trial court noted that there are cases under FOIA where individuals have been named as parties. The trial court however, interpreted those decisions as meaning that the courts had treated "[S]uch individual defendants as being one in [*sic*] the same as the public body because it is the public body that has allegedly violated FOIA." (R. p. 4.) In making this interpretation, the trial court cited to *Lambries*, 398 S.C. at 502, 728 S.E.2d at 489 (Ct. App. 2012). The case report does not contain the phrasing used by the trial court, and the decision in the Court of Appeals did not address whether named individuals were one and the same as the public body: the word "individuals" does not appear in the case report.

The Supreme Court, in reversing the Court of Appeals decision in *Lambries*, also did not address whether named individual defendants were one and the same as the public body for whom they were acting. *Lambries v. Saluda Cnty. Council*, Op. No. 27400 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 18, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 24 at 19). The

issue was not litigated in that case at any level. The decision in the Supreme Court turned on the issue of whether the defendant county council was obliged to publish any agenda before its meetings. The Supreme Court (and the Court of Appeals before it) found that the Saluda County council had no obligation under FOIA to publish an agenda, and that the council followed its own ordinances in amending its agenda at a meeting by a motion that was properly made, seconded, and voted upon.

The City of North Myrtle Beach, by contrast, has adopted an Ordinance that **requires** the publication of an agenda before each regularly scheduled City Council meeting. City Ordinances also require Executive Sessions of the City Council to be held in compliance with FOIA, that the City Council adopt and follow rules and procedures for the conduct of its meeting, and that the City Attorney act as its parliamentarian. City Ord., ch. 2, art. II, §§ 2-35, 2-31.5, 2-32; ch. 2, art. IV, § 2-71.

In June 2009, the Attorney General provided an Opinion to counsel for Spartanburg School District 7 on the question of whether that School District, which had a written policy permitting amendment of agendas for regularly scheduled meetings of the School District Board by majority vote of its members, might properly amend its agenda without violating § 30-4-80(a) of FOIA.

The Attorney General answered that in 1989, a similar question had been posed with regard to meetings and agendas of Spartanburg City Council: the Attorney General in that matter had opined that while a public body may have provisions that would allow amendment to an agenda within twenty-four hours prior to a meeting,

the best reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-80(a) was that the spirit of FOIA was served by requiring an agenda to be posted in its final form twenty-four hours before the meeting. The Attorney General was of the opinion, however, that Spartanburg City Council and the School District might lawfully amend their agendas if their governing rules of procedure allowed it.

Nonetheless, the Attorney General commented that:

[I]nterpreting section 30-4-80(a) to permit last minute changes to agendas gives public bodies the ability to post agendas with only noncontroversial items and later amend those agendas to include more controversial items without notice to the public. Accordingly, we believe this reading would deny the public some of the protection FOIA seeks to afford.

2009 Op. S.C. Att’y Gen. No. 396 (June 9, 2009).

The Code of the City of Spartanburg’s Ordinances contain the following provisions in Chapter 2, Article III:

**Sec. 2-49. – Agenda.**

All reports, communications, ordinances, resolutions, contract documents or other matters to be submitted to the council shall be delivered or submitted to the city manager at least four (4) days prior to such meeting. The city manager shall arrange a list of such matters, according to the order of business and furnish each member of the council and the city attorney with a copy of same prior to the council meeting and as far in advance of the meeting as time for preparation will permit.

(Code 1958, § 2-2.1)

**Sec. 2-63. – Rescission, suspension or alteration of rules.**

- (a) Any of the rules set out in this article, except those requiring unanimous consent, can be rescinded or altered by a majority of the members present.
- (b) By common consent of all members present at a regular meeting, the rules of procedure as set forth herein may be temporarily suspended, with the exception of those rules prescribed in accordance with the laws of the state.

(Code 1958, § 2-10)

By contrast, the Code of Ordinances for the City of North Myrtle Beach, in Chapter 2, Article II, Division 2, provides:

**Sec. 2-35. Agenda.**

Matters to be considered by council at a regular meeting shall be placed on a written agenda prepared by the city manager and publicly posted by the city clerk by noon of the day preceding the meeting. Matters not on the agenda may be considered with the approval of a majority of councilmembers.

(Ord. No. 90-5, 4-3-90; Ord. No. 91-14, § 1, 4-15-91)

**Sec. 2-32. Quorum and rules of procedure.**

The city council shall, by resolution, adopt its own rules and procedures for the conduct of meetings. The city attorney shall act as parliamentarian. A majority of councilmembers serving shall constitute a quorum for the conduct of business at any meeting. The mayor shall preside or, in his absence, the mayor pro tempore shall preside. In the absence of both, the vice-mayor pro tempore shall preside. Except as otherwise required by state law or ordinance, all proceedings of council shall be governed by rules and procedures adopted by resolution.

(Ord. No. 90-5, 4-3-90)

Where Spartanburg City Council does not mandate a fixed date or time at which an agenda must be published in advance of a meeting, the City of North Myrtle Beach does require a deadline for publication. Further, while Spartanburg City Council has specific provisions for suspending the applicable Rules of Procedure, the City of North Myrtle Beach does not. The Complaint in the present matter alleged that in altering the agenda at certain meetings of the North Myrtle Beach City Council, the Mayor did not follow the City Council's rules of procedure, and the City Attorney, in his role as parliamentarian, did not demur from the action proposed and taken.

In *Burton*, an injunction under FOIA was sought against both the sheriff's department and the sheriff personally. *Burton*, 358 S.C. at 344, 594 S.E.2d at 890. The Court of Appeals found no error in the issuance of the injunction or its scope. *Burton*, 358 S.C. at 356, 594 S.E.2d at 897.

In *Fowler*, the Supreme Court noted that while nothing requires each individual in an agency to be served with a complaint under FOIA, there were numerous cases in which individual members were not named. *Fowler*, 322 S.C. at 467, 472 S.E.2d at 632. The Supreme Court also held that it had jurisdiction to review the ministerial acts of South Carolina Governor Beasley.

This Court has jurisdiction to review the ministerial acts of the governor. *Easler v. Maybank*, 191 S.C. 511, 5 S.E.2d 288 (1939). In *Blalock v. Johnston*, 180 S.C. 40, 185 S.E. 51 (1936), we held that a statute prescribing the method of appointment of a tax collector and stating

“which appointment shall be made by . . . the Governor, upon the recommendation of the majority of the Members of the General Assembly,” vested the Governor with no discretion since the appointment could not legally be made without the recommendation. Accordingly, the appointment was subject to review by this Court. *See also Elledge v. Wharton*, 89 S.C. 113, 71 S.E. 657 (1911).

*Fowler*, 322 S.C. at 467, 472 S.E.2d at 633.

The Complaint in this present matter describes various alleged failures of the individually named defendants to perform their ministerial duties under FOIA and the City’s Code of Ordinances. *E.g.*, R. pp. 5–22, ¶¶ 34, 41, 45, 51, 56, 60, 63, 67, 70, 75, 78, 83, 89, 94, 97, 103, 106, 115, 120, 124, 126, 128, 132–33, 135, 139, 140–41, 143, 148, 151, 153, 158–59, 163–64, 167–68, 173, and 179. The Complaint separately alleges violations of FOIA and the City Ordinances by the City as a defendant. R. p. 20, ¶¶ 183–85. The City Mayor, City Manager, and City Attorney have no discretion whether to obey those Ordinances or deviate from their ministerial duties prescribed thereunder. They are required to enforce obedience to statutes, provisions of the Code or Ordinances, or any ordinances, resolutions, rules, regulations or orders issued thereunder as may relate to their regular duties. City Ord., ch. 1, § 1-9.

In *Freemantle v. Preston*, 398 S.C. 186, 728 S.E.2d 40 (2012), the Supreme Court noted without comment that “[S]everal former and current Council members [were named] in their official and individual capacities.” *Freemantle*, 398 S.C.

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