THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-26-08446

(Court of Appeals Case No. 2014-000756)

Marilyn Hatley, individually and as Mayor of the City of North Myrtle Beach, Michael G. Mahaney, Christopher Noury, and the City of North Myrtle Beach.....Respondents,

v.

William H. Bailey, Jr.....Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Michael W. Battle.
PO Box 530
Conway, SC 29528
T: 843-248-4321
F: 843-248-4512
mbattle@battlelawsc.com
SC Bar No.
Attorney for Respondents

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Contents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL.....	5

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

In the trial court's order dismissing Bailey's claims against the individual

defendants in their personal capacities, the trial court found FOIA was created to allow citizens to be advised of the performance of public officials and of the decisions that are reached in public activity and in the formulation of public policy. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15*. The trial court further found FOIA's equitable relief provisions are directed at those improper actions taken by the public body and only the public body can perform such acts that are subject to FOIA's equitable provisions. See *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 327-28, 701 S.E.2d 39, 47-48 (Ct. App. 2010).

Public bodies are defined in part as any state board, commission, agency, and authority, any public or governmental body or political subdivision of the State, including counties, municipalities. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a)*. Individuals on the other hand are defined in FOIA as persons and are placed in a separate class from public bodies. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(b)*.

The meetings part of FOIA which Bailey claims was violated addresses only the actions of public bodies, it does not mention individuals or persons nor does it require a person acting in an individual capacity to perform any duties. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-70*. In other words, FOIA's public meeting duties are required to be performed by public bodies or public agencies not private citizens. *Id.* Respondents contend that while Bailey may seek to enforce the civil remedies in FOIA against Hatley, Mahaney, and Noury, in their official capacities, the FOIA statutes do not authorize injunctions or monetary judgments against officers or employees of the City or North Myrtle Beach in their personal capacity. *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 327-28, 701 S.E.2d 39,47-48 (Ct. App. 2010).; Also see, *S.C.Code Ann. § 15-78-70(a) and (b) (Supp.1989)*.

Although FOIA is not the equivalent of the Federal Civil Rights Act, 42 USC §1983, which imposes liability on individuals who act under color of state law, there are similarities between FOIA claims and 42 USC §1983 claims which illustrate the distinctions Respondents would make between personal capacity suits and official capacity suits. Under 42 USC §1983 personal-capacity suits seek to impose personal liability upon a government official for actions he takes under color of state law. See, e.g., *Scheuer v. Rhodes*, 416 U.S. 232, 237–238, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 1686–1687, 40 L.Ed.2d 90 (1974). While 42 USC §1983 expressly provides for personal civil liability, FOIA does not. See *S.C. Code §30-4-100*. Official-capacity suits, in contrast, “generally represent only another way of pleading an action against an entity of which an officer is an agent.” *Monell v. New York City Dept. of Social Services*, 436 U.S. 658, 690, n. 55, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 2035, n. 55, 56 L.Ed.2d 611 (1978). As long as the government entity receives notice and an opportunity to respond, an official-capacity suit is, in all respects other than name, to be treated as a suit against the entity. It is not a suit against the official personally, for the real party in interest is the entity. Thus, while an award of damages against an official in his personal capacity can be executed only against the official's personal assets, a plaintiff seeking to recover on a damages judgment in an official-capacity suit must look to the government entity itself. See *Kentucky v. Graham*, 473 U.S. 159, 165-66, 105 S. Ct. 3099, 3105, 87 L. Ed. 2d 114 (1985).

South Carolina cases dealing with FOIA claims support Respondents’ distinction between personal capacity suits and official capacity suits. In one case, a group of Plaintiffs were suing for an injunction to prevent a school board candidate from being seated due to FOIA violations. *Fowler v. Beasley*, 322 S.C. 463, 467, 472 S.E.2d 630,

632 (1996). The court made a specific point that the individual parties did not need to be named. The Supreme Court stated, “Although representatives of commissions, delegations and boards are often named individually, there is no requirement in the rules they be so named and there are numerous cases in which individual members have not been named.” *Id.* See *Cameron and Barkley v. S.C. Procurement Review Panel*, 317 S.C. 437, 454 S.E.2d 892 (1995); *Willis Constr. Co. v. Sumter Airport Comm’n*, 308 S.C. 505, 419 S.E.2d 240 (Ct.App.1992); *Charleston County School District v. Budget and Control Board*, 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993); *Davis v. Budget and Control Board*, 301 S.C. 373, 392 S.E.2d 183 (1990).

The trial court found that the appellate courts treat suits against individuals as being one and the same as suits against the government entity. In so finding the trial court tacitly acknowledged that appellate courts treat individuals named in FOIA suits as being named in their official capacity. As stated above, official capacity suits generally represent only another way of pleading an action against an entity of which an officer is an agent. *Monell v. New York City Dept. of Social Services*, 436 U.S. 658, 690, n. 55, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 2035, n. 55, 56 L.Ed.2d 611 (1978).

2. FOIA did not create a private cause of action against individuals.

Bailey appears to claim FOIA provides all the authority he needs to seek injunctive relief together with a monetary judgment for costs and attorneys’ fees against Hatley, Mahaney, and Noury, in their individual capacities. Bailey appears to be seeking a private cause of action to bring on behalf of the public against private individuals who were also government officers and employees. [See Bailey’s Complaint] Although FOIA may give Bailey standing to bring a lawsuit on behalf of the public, Respondents

contend that FOIA does not create a private cause of action against the individual defendants. *Bellamy v. Brown*, 305 S.C. 291, 408 S.E.2d 219 (1991); Also see *Adkins v. S. Carolina Dep't of Corr.*, 360 S.C. 413, 418, 602 S.E.2d 51, 54 (2004).

The SC Supreme Court has held public officials are immune from private causes of action under the public duty rule, which holds that “public officials are generally not liable to individuals for their negligence in discharging public duties as the duty is owed to the public at large rather than [to] anyone individually.” *Bellamy v. Brown*, 305 S.C. 291, 294, 408 S.E.2d 219, 220-21 (1991); *Parker v. Brown*, 195 S.C. 35, 10 S.E.2d 625 (1940). Since the FOIA obviously creates a public duty, Bailey must show that the individual Respondents owed to him a special duty in connection with conducting public meetings.

In determining whether a statute creates a private cause of action, the main factor is legislative intent. The legislative intent to grant or withhold a private right of action for violation of a statute or the failure to perform a statutory duty, is determined primarily from the language of the statute. In this respect, the general rule is that a statute which does not purport to establish a civil liability, but merely makes provision to secure the safety or welfare of the public as an entity is not subject to a construction establishing a private civil liability. *Dorman v. Aiken Communications, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 63, 67, 398 S.E.2d 687, 689 (1990) (quoting *Whitworth v. Fast Fare Markets of South Carolina, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 418, 420, 338 S.E.2d 155, 156 (1985)). When a statute does not specifically create a private cause of action, one can be implied only if the legislation was enacted for the special benefit of a private party. *Citizens of Lee County v. Lee County*, 308 S.C. 23,

416 S.E.2d 641 (1992); *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 396-97, 645 S.E.2d 245, 248 (2007).

Respondents contend the General Assembly did not create FOIA for the special benefit of a private party such as Bailey. *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 328, 701 S.E.2d 39, 48 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010). As stated in the legislative findings and purpose, FOIA was created to allow citizens to be advised of the performance of public officials and of the decisions that are reached in public activity and in the formulation of public policy. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15*. FOIA does provide for criminal sanctions against individuals for willful misconduct. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110*. However, for the same reasons stated hereinabove for civil statutes, FOIA's criminal penalty does not create an additional private civil cause of action for relief against government officers or employees in their individual capacities. See *Adkins v. S. Carolina Dep't of Corr.*, 360 S.C. 413, 418, 602 S.E.2d 51, 54 (2004). Like the other provisions of FOIA, the criminal penalty was not created for the special benefit of a private party such as Bailey. *S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110*.

Respondents' interpretation of FOIA is supported by the policies underlying the common law public duty rule. The 'public duty' rule presumes statutes which create or define the duties of a public office have the essential purpose of providing for the structure and operation of government or for securing the general welfare and safety of the public. *Summers v. Harrison Constr.*, 298 S.C. 451, 455-56, 381 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct.App.1989). The public duty rule is rule of statutory construction, that is, a means of determining whether the legislative body that enacted the statute or ordinance intended to

create a private cause of action for its breach. *Arthurs ex rel. Estate of Munn v. Aiken Cnty.*, 346 S.C. 97, 104, 551 S.E.2d 579, 582 (2001).

The public duty rule insulates public officials, employees, and governmental entities from liability for the negligent performance of their official duties by negating the existence of a duty towards the plaintiff. *Arthurs ex rel. Estate of Munn v. Aiken Cnty.*, 346 S.C. 97, 104, 551 S.E.2d 579, 582 (2001). Bailey's claim that violations of FOIA give rise to individual liability for claims of attorneys' fees and costs is in derogation of the common law public duty rule. Statutes in derogation of the common law are to be strictly construed. See *Ross v. Waccamaw Cmty. Hosp.*, 404 S.C. 56, 63, 744 S.E.2d 547, 550 (2013)

Although attorneys' fees are not damages under the American Rule for damages, they are an award of compensation to an individual Plaintiff and more importantly an exposure to liability for individual officers and employees. If the General Assembly had intended to cause such an important shift in the underlying policies of common law for public servants, the General Assembly would have expressly provided for it in FOIA. If the legislature intended the individual liability result Bailey seeks, it could have expressly stated that individual persons are civilly liable for violations of FOIA. See *Ross v. Waccamaw Cmty. Hosp.*, 404 S.C. 56, 65, 744 S.E.2d 547, 551 (2013).

3. *The S.C. cases cited by Bailey do not address the issue of individual liability.*

Government employees' individual liability for attorneys' fees and costs for alleged violations of FOIA was not addressed in the Bailey's cited cases. Bailey's claim appears to be that the failure of FOIA and appellate courts to expressly prohibit individual liability for public activities is authority to support his claims against the

individual respondents in the present case. Bailey's claim fails to recognize issue preservation as a fundamental component of appellate practice. See *Washington v Whitaker*, 317 S.C. 9, 409 SE 2d 811 (1994); cf *State v Austin*, 306 S.C. 9, 409 SE 2d 811(Ct. App. 1991)("Appellate courts in this state, like well-behaved children, do not speak unless spoken to and do not answer questions they are not asked.")

Until now, the question of individual liability for alleged FOIA violations has not been directly addressed. Respondents contend that in other areas of the law where individual liability in connection with the discharge of public duties has been addressed the appellate courts have declined to extend liability for damages to the individual person. *Bellamy v. Brown*, 305 S.C. 291, 408 S.E.2d 219 (1991). Respondents contend that for the same reasons liability for costs and attorneys' fees, which can be substantial in FOIA claims, should not be extended to individual persons performing public duties.

Bailey may claim that he is primarily interested in seeking injunctive relief against the individual defendants and individual liability for costs and attorneys' fees should not prevent the Court from granting injunctive relief against the individual respondents. Respondents contend that the significance of injunctive relief lay in the power of the court to punish for contempt of court. A person does not have to be a party to a lawsuit or named in the order to be punished for knowingly violating a court's order. See *Ex parte Walker* (1965) 279 Ala 53, 181 So 2d 493, affd on other grounds 388 US 307, 18 L Ed 2d 1210, 87 S Ct 1824, reh den 389 US 894, 19 L Ed 2d 202, 88 S Ct 12, in which the court held that persons who, with knowledge of a court order enjoining mass demonstrations without a permit, participated in such demonstrations with the persons who were named in the injunction were guilty of contempt of court. *Id.* Also See *Power*

Authority of New York v Moeller (1977, 3d Dept) 57 App Div 2d 380, 395 NYS2d 497, (Stating that it was well settled that persons not named as defendants to an action for a permanent injunction may be bound by the terms of a preliminary injunction in that action if they have knowledge of the terms of the injunction and if they are acting in collusion or combination with the named defendants.)

C. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Dismissing Appellant's Causes of Action Against the Individual Defendants for Violation of the City's Ordinances.

1. *The issue of the improper dismissal of Bailey's City ordinance claim was not properly preserved.*

On appeal Bailey raises for the first time statements made by Respondents' counsel during oral argument and he claims those statements should have prevented the trial court from dismissing his claims against the individual defendants for violation of the City's ordinances in connection public meetings. Bailey did not move under *Rule 59, SCRPC* for the trial court to reconsider its order on grounds that its order should have been limited by Respondents' counsel's oral argument. The trial court was not given an opportunity to rule on the question of the effect of Respondents' counsel's oral argument. Bailey's argument is improper and should be dismissed. It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved. See generally *Holy Loch Distribs., Inc. v. Hitchcock*, 340 S.C. 20, 531 S.E.2d 282 (2000); *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000). *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564-65, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006).

2. *Respondents' Motion to Dismiss properly requested dismissal of the entire Complaint which included dismissal of the claim based on the City's ordinances.*

The request to dismiss all of Bailey's claims against the individual defendants was raised in Respondents' motion to dismiss. [See Motion to Dismiss] Bailey's complaint was not separated into causes of action. The trial court's order contained the following order: "Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Marilyn Hatley, Michael G. Mahaney, and Christopher Noury from the above captioned lawsuit is hereby granted. Plaintiff's claims against those individuals are hereby dismissed with prejudice." [Trial Court Order] As stated above, Bailey did not move under *Rule 59, SCRPC* for the trial court to reconsider its order on any grounds. The issue of the City ordinances was raised by Respondents' motion and by Bailey's attorney. The trial court had the authority to grant Respondents' motion to dismiss all of Bailey's claims against the individual defendants including the claims of violation of the City's ordinances.

ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS

D. The individual defendants are immune from Bailey's claims under the S.C. Tort Claims Act.

If the Court were to find that FOIA creates a private cause of action in favor of Bailey, such a cause of action would create a tort for violation of a statute. See *Pierson v. Ray*, 386 U.S. 547, 556, 87 S. Ct. 1213, 1219, 18 L. Ed. 2d 288 (1967) (statutory violations should be read against the background of tort liability that makes a man responsible for the natural consequences of his actions). As an additional sustaining ground for dismissing Bailey's FOIA claims, Respondents contend that government officers and employees in their personal capacities are immune from Bailey's claims for monetary judgments for attorneys' fees under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. The

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